70799-0

70799-0

COA No. 70799-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,



v.

CHARLES LEE,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SNOHOMISH COUNTY

The Honorable David A. Kurtz

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

OLIVER R. DAVIS Attorney for Appellant

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. In Mr. Lee's trial in which he was acquitted on all but one of the four charged sexual offenses, the trial court erred in admitting hearsay statements of M.N., the complainant.

 The trial court erred in excluding relevant evidence that M.N.'s elementary school made efforts to protect staff from false allegations by M.N.

3. The trial court erred in giving the jury the "abiding belief in the truth of" language in the definition of reasonable doubt.

4. The prosecutor committed misconduct in closing argument.

5. Cumulative error requires reversal.

6. The condition of community custody precluding internet usage must be stricken.

7. The condition of community custody requiring plethysmograph testing must be stricken.

8. The evidence was insufficient to prove the 'non-marriage' element of the offense of conviction.

B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in ruling that RCW

9.94A.120 and the <u>State v. Ryan¹</u> reliability factors allowed admission of child hearsay, where the factors weighed in favor of exclusion, including the fact that M.N. had an established track record of dishonest character generally, that she had a history of falsely claiming sexual abuse specifically, and that she made her allegations against Mr. Lee in response to being accused of wrongdoing?

2. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in excluding relevant evidence that M.N.'s elementary school had ordered that no staff be allowed to ever be alone with M.N. because of concerns she would allege sexual abuse?

3. Did the trial court err, and violate Mr. Lee's right to a fair trial in violation of the state and federal constitutions, in giving the jury the "abiding belief in the truth of the charges" language in the definition of reasonable doubt, over Mr. Lee's objection?

4. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct in closing argument by stating an improper opinion on, and vouching for, M.N.'s credibility, and in commenting on the defendant's silence or failure of the defense to present evidence, and/or shifting the burden of proof?

5. Does cumulative error require reversal?

6. Must the condition of community custody precluding internet

¹ State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d 165, 173, 691 P.2d 197 (1984).

usage be stricken as violative of the SRA?

7. Must this Court strike the condition of community custody requiring Mr. Lee to submit to plethysmograph testing to "ensure" his compliance with "conditions of community custody," as imposed in excess of the court's statutory authority under RCW 9.94A.703, and as violative of the state and federal constitutions?

8. Was the evidence insufficient to prove the 'non-marriage' element of rape of a child?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

 Procedural history. Over the course of 6 to 7 years, M.N., aged 12 at the time of Charles Lee's trial, made multiple false claims of having been sexually abused by various male adults, including by her biological father. In one instance, M.N. proceeded through a law enforcement-required sexual assault medical examination, and a forensic interview, maintaining her false allegations against family friend D. Knowlton, because she wanted him to stay in jail. 7/10/13RP at 148-50, 187. M.N. admitted that her false allegations in the past were motivated by the desire to remove certain adults from her family life, and her knowledge that accusations like hers would obtain that result. 7/10/13RP at 150, 187-91. M.N.'s anger at Mr. Lee and her jealousy of the time Mr. Lee spent with his daughter Autumn, 7/5/13RP at 30-31, had resulted in M.N. burning Autumn and pushing Autumn under the water in the bathtub. 7/7/13RP at 31-32; see 7/11/13RP at 186-89.

In this case, a cascading series of evolving accusations against Charles Lee, who had been M.N.'s mother's boyfriend, resulted in multiple amended charging documents, in which the State charged Mr. Lee with four counts of alleged intercourse and molestation under RCW 9A.44.073 and .083.² CP 228-29, 222-23, 218-19, 121-14, 154-55, 90-91, 88-89. M.N. described to a forensic child interview specialist at Dawson Place Child Advocacy Center a catalogue of past sexual abuse by the defendant, including being subjected to repeated and durational oral, anal, and vaginal penetration. CP 226-27. Yet, when Charles Lee was in the home, both Autumn Lee and Ms. Niehaus were also present, except for times when Ms. Niehaus briefly walked outside to get the mail. 7/10/13RP at 196-97.

Following evidence at a jury trial, the jury found Mr. Lee not guilty on all but one of the counts, the single charge of rape of a child allegedly occurring on July 2, 2011, in count 1. CP 56, 57, 58, 59. This was an asserted incident which the child's mother, Rachel Niehaus, claimed to have witnessed, although no contact was seen. 7/11/13RP at

² Rape of a child first degree and child molestation first degree are committed if there is sexual intercourse or sexual contact by a person 24 months older than the victim and the victim is less than twelve years old and not married to the defendant. RCW

155.

At sentencing, Mr. Lee expressly disavowed any desire for a SSOSA in order to maintain his absolute innocence. 7/17/13RP at 34. Based on his offender score of zero, Mr. Lee was sentenced on the single conviction to indeterminate imprisonment of 114 months-Life. 7/17/13RP at 45-47; CP 18-32.

2. <u>Trial</u>.

(*i*). *Claims.* Mr. Lee, from 2008 to 2011, was the boyfriend, and then ex-boyfriend, of Rachel Niehaus, who lived with her daughter M.N. in Mill Creek, Washington. Mr. Lee and Ms. Niehaus also had their own biological daughter, Autumn Lee, who had been born in November of 2008, and who stayed at the Niehaus home often, and was M.N.'s stepsister. CP 209-11, 215-17, 220-21, 225-27. Rachel Niehaus admitted that M.N. disliked Mr. Lee from the moment he entered the family's life, and more so after Autumn was born. 7/11/13RP at 134-41, 152.

Ms. Niehaus also confirmed that Mr. Lee, early in their relationship, learned that M.N. had made false allegations of sexual abuse in the past, and confirmed that he was wary of being near her. 7/11/13RP at 140. Ms. Niehaus, who was primarily at home from November of 2010 through early July 2011, testified on direct examination that she never left

⁹A.44.073; RCW 9.94A.083.

M.N. and Mr. Lee alone in the home. 7/11/13RP at 150-51. When the prosecutor pressed her, asking "Are you sure?," Ms. Niehaus stated there would be times that she went outside to walk to the mailbox. 7/11/13RP at 150-51.

Ms. Niehaus contacted the police in July of 2011, and stated she had walked in on Mr. Lee sexually molesting her daughter M.N., in the living room. She asserted that the defendant, when confronted, stated he was showing M.N. "how we do it." CP 226-27; 7/11/13RP at 155, 158.

M.N. had previously claimed to her mother that she had been abused by Mr. Lee in 2010 and 2011, not all of which claims the mother believed, but which formed the three bases of the acquittal counts.³ 7/11/13RP at 142.

M.N. had made her initial allegation in 2010, in response to the fact that her mother was questioning her about taking property that had gone missing around the house. 7/11/13RP at 191.

Then, M.N.'s mother, Ms. Niehaus, claimed that on July 2, she walked out of her bedroom into the living room. M.N. was on her hands and knees bent over the green couch. Mr. Lee was "behind her, his hands down his pants playing with himself." 7/11/13RP at 154-55. M.N.'s

³ The State received a referral from Mill Creek Police Department concerning the 2010 allegations, but expressly declined to file charges.

clothes were partially "down." 7/11/13RP at 153, 157. Ms. Niehaus went back to her room, where Mr. Lee insisted, "it's not what it looks like." 7/11/13RP at 157.

This incident of July 2 followed Ms. Niehaus taking Autumn to the hospital that morning because M.N. had burned Autumn's arm. M.N. did this to Autumn on purpose, out of anger or jealousy, and she lied to hospital personnel about what had happened. 7/11/13RP at 162, 216; 7/10/13RP at 163-64, 177-82. M.N. knew that Mr. Lee would find out that she had burned Autumn's arm - and she was worried about what would happen when he did, because he was protective of her. 7/10/13RP at 180-82.

Ms. Niehaus took M.N. shopping after the claimed July 2 incident, then later contacted police and made the allegation; Mr. Lee left the house a few hours after the alleged incident. 7/11/13RP at 157. Ms. Niehaus didn't significantly change the frequency that Mr. Lee was permitted to come to the family home after the allegations. 7/11/13RP at 149-50.

M.N testified that on July 2, 2011 (Count 1), at her home at the Heatherwood Apartments, Mr. Lee told her to change into a dress, then told her to face forward onto the couch, and then he raped her. 7/10/13RP at 100, 123-129. M.N. stated that her mother walked into the living room and told Mr. Lee to get out. 7/10/13RP at 130-31. M.N. at one point said

that the defendant had put his penis in her vagina, but later changed this to saying he put his penis in her anus. 7/10/13RP at 129, 138.

Mr. Lee indicated to the police in November of 2010 that he was aware of M.N.'s prior false allegations of sexual abuse by adults, and as a result, he specifically avoided being alone with her. 7/12/13RP at 48-54 (testimony of police officer Ian Durkee).

(ii). Mother and complainant's motivation to lie.

Mr. Lee was very upset about his daughter's burn. 7/11/13RP at 187. On the morning of the claim that sent Mr. Lee to prison in this case, Ms. Niehaus was forced to admit, Mr. Lee had threatened Ms. Niehaus that he "was going to get custody of her [Autumn] or take her back to Louisiana." 7/11/13RP at 196.

M.N.'s mother also confirmed M.N.'s overall dishonesty, her stealing, and her constant attention-seeking behavior, some of which was attributable to jealousy of her step-sister Autumn, but which also long predated that time. 7/11/13RP at 178-79.⁴

M.N. had a history of false crime allegations and harmful untrue

⁴ At trial M.N. denied having even accused her biological father of sexually molesting her, and continued to deny accusing him of doing so, 7/10/13RP at 158, 186, 7/11/13RP at 14; she also stated she had not been abused by Mr. Lee in a 2010 interview, after previously falsely accusing him of other sex abuse, 7/11/13RP at 15. She denied the fact that she had falsely accused one M. Condit of sexually molesting her, and continued to deny ever accusing him of doing so, and then in further cross-examination admitted she had done, and done so falsely. 7/10/13RP at 158-59, 187-88; 7/11/13RP at 11-13.

assertions of serious offenses, fabricated against people as to whom she harbored ill-will. M.N. lied and told authority figures that she had been raped by D. Knowlton, a lie uncovered by the efforts of Mr. Lee's counsel; M.N. claimed she did this because this man had sexually contacted a friend of hers and she wanted him to stay in jail; it was later revealed that she made the false accusation because she wanted that adult out of her family life and knew this would work. 7/10/13RP at 149-50, 158, 188-89; 7/11/13RP at 11, 97.

M.N. had undergone a previous physical examination for an earlier claim of sexual assault, and the claim was false, but M.N. underwent the entire exam process to establish proof of it, although it had never happened. 7/10/13RP at 200-01, 7/11/13RP at 96.⁵

M.N. was very unhappy during the time Mr. Lee was part of her family, in part because when he began dating her mother, she no longer had her room in the apartment where they lived. 7/10/13RP at 168-69. M.N.'s mother had to admit that M.N. disliked Mr. Lee so much she would do whatever she could to undermine him. 7/11/13RP at 152. Her

⁵ As indicated by her mother, M.N. learned a great deal about how sexual assault interviews proceed and how they result in removal of the perpetrator from the family's life, from being present for the investigation of her mother's sexual assault. 7/11/13RP at 140. M.N. had also learned of family friend Sandy Grant's sexual assault as a victim, and the events that occurred after all these sorts of allegations. 7/11/13RP at 108-09, 192; 7/12/13RP at 157-74.

anger at Mr. Lee and her jealousy of Autumn had already been an apparent cause of other harmful lies. Just recently, in 2012, M.N. had claimed that she observed Mr. Lee sexually abusing Autumn, which was false. 7/10/13RP at 196.

In 2010, after M.N. wrongly used her mother's credit cards and responded to being confronted about that by accusing Mr. Lee of abuse, social workers became involved with the family. M.N. was told that she could go to juvenile jail if she continued to make false allegations of sexual molestation. 7/10/13RP at 198-99.

(iii). Medical testimony. M.N. asserted she had severe vaginal and anal bleeding during the July incident, stating it was upwards of a half-hour to an hour of forced intercourse. But no saliva, seminal fluid, or DNA was located in M.N.'s underwear or on or in her person, according to defense witness Mariah Low, the forensic scientist from the Washington State Patrol Crime Laboratory, who the State did not call as a witness, but the defense did. 7/10/13RP at 100-138; 7/16/13RP at 74, 83-88.

According to the affidavit of probable cause, a sexual assault examination nurse or "SANE" examined M.N. on July 7 and "corroborated M.N.'s allegations." CP 226. But at trial, Paula Newman-Skomski, the Providence Hospital (Everett) nurse stated the child's vaginal indices were both consistent with sexual trauma, and consistent with normal anatomy so as to be nonindicative of injury. 7/15/13RP at 126, 190.

M.N. had asserted that Mr. Lee had sexually abused her a number of times that were "[t]oo many to count." 7/10/13RP at 137-38. Newman-Skomski admitted that if it were true, as M.N. asserted, that she was abused as and how she claimed -- upwards of 300 times by Mr. Lee including every day of the week except Sundays -- her physical examination findings would be dramatically different. 7/15/13RP at 195; 7/10/13RP at 136.

Newman-Skomski, who became a nurse-practitioner in mid-July of 2011, had also seen M.N. in November of 2010 based on an earlier accusation. 7/15/13RP at 34-36. M.N. made a richly detailed claim of abuse by Mr. Lee allegedly occurring in early November. 7/15/13RP at 40-43, 65. Skomski could locate no indications of trauma in her examination of M.N.'s vaginal area, and testified that she had even doubted whether there was a "notch," which is an indentation that is consistent with both trauma and trauma's absence. 7/15/13RP at 78-84.

Ms. Newman-Skomksi also examined M.N. on July 2, of 2011, at which time M.N. had now alleged that Mr. Lee raped her. 7/15/13RP at

107. In this version, M.N. claimed this occurred weekly. 7/15/13RP at 108. Newman-Skomksi, then a nurse, did not utilize a colposcopic device during her exams, only unaided visual examination; M.N.'s hymen was intact such that the vagina could not be seen. 7/15/13RP at 190.

During the visual examination, M.N. appeared to have an area of erythema, "which means redness" from possible abrasion, on her labia minora, of .25 centimeters in size. 7/15/13RP at 116-17. There was also a tag, or extended piece of hymenal area, or a tear, which could result from genital anomaly, trauma, straddle injuries, or anything that irritates the hymenal tissue. 7/15/13RP at 120-21, 149. M.N. had a .25 centimeter area of erythema in her anal area. 7/15/13RP at 121-22. Newman-Skomksi stated these indices were consistent with sexual assault, and consistent with diarrhea or constipation, the latter of which the child had also reported. 7/15/13RP at 113, 126-28.

It also turned out that M.N. had physically scratched and harmed her own vaginal area in the past, including since before the time of her allegations against Mr. Lee. 7/11/13RP at 95. Ms. Newman-Skomski admitted that any vaginal indices could result from such self-harm. 7/15/13RP at 177-78. She agreed with her own report that there was apparent maceration or lack of smoothness in the fossa area of the vagina, which could result from any irritation including a yeast infection, and that the asserted abrasion of the labia minora could be a mere discoloration; Newman-Skomski had relied on M.N.'s claim that the area hurt when touched. 7/15/13RP at 183, 187-89; Exhibit 24. Newman-Skomski admitted that a person who had been subjected to the many, many incidents of sexual abuse reported by M.N. would be expected to have a different appearance of her hymen than what Newman-Skomski observed. 7/15/13RP at 195.

Caryn Young, a nurse-practitioner at Providence Hospital, who also examined M.N. on July 2, 2011, and used a colposcopic examination, only observed an irregularity in the fossa area of the vagina, and erythema, or non-abrasion redness, neither of which, Young stated, was an indicator of trauma or sexual abuse. 7/12/13RP at 149-50, 155-56.

D. ARGUMENT

1. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING THE HEARSAY STATEMENTS OF M.N. UNDER <u>STATE</u> <u>V. RYAN</u>.

a. <u>The trial court admitted hearsay</u>. A hearsay statement is one made by a declarant not testifying at trial, offered in evidence to prove the truth of the matter asserted. ER 801(c). Hearsay is generally inadmissible unless it falls within an exception to the rule barring hearsay. ER 802.

At issue here is the trial court's pre-trial ruling of July 12, 2013, admitting all the hearsay identified by the court and including testimony and an interview tape-recording by child interviewer Amanda Harpell-Franz in 2010, and statements made by M.N. to her mother, and to Sandy Grant, a family friend, in 2010. 7/3/13RP at 191-95; 7/5/13RP at 105-18; 7/12/13RP at 25, 62, 105-06; <u>see</u> CP 113-26 (Defendant's Competency and Child Hearsay Brief); Supp. CP ____, Sub # 186, State's Exhibit 8. These assertions supported the child's claims at trial on all the charges that Mr. Lee abused her repeatedly over time on occasions supposedly "[t]oo many to count." 7/10/13RP at 137-38; <u>see also</u> 7/15/13RP at 195 (Newman-Skomski testimony).

b. The child hearsay was inadmissible by rule and not

admissible by statutory exception where the Ryan factors were not

substantially met. For cases alleging acts of sexual contact involving children under the age of 10, the Legislature has established a particular exception to the evidence rule barring hearsay. Under RCW 9A.44.120, certain child hearsay may be admitted if:

(1) The court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability; and
 (2) The child either:

 (a) Testifies at the proceedings; or
 (b) [Is unavailable as a witness].

(Emphasis added.) RCW 9A.44.120.⁶ First, the trial court erred to the extent it admitted hearsay of the child M.N. that occurred any time at all after she turned 10 years old, given her birthday of December 22, 2000. CP 121-22 (Defense hearsay brief); 7/5/13RP at 76-77; ER 801; ER 802; see RCW 9A.44.120.

Second, the trial court answers the RCW 9.94A.120 question of whether there are "sufficient indicia of reliability" under the statute by applying the test set forth in <u>State v. Ryan</u>, 103 Wn.2d 165, 173, 691 P.2d 197 (1984). <u>State v. Woods</u>, 154 Wn.2d 613, 623, 114 P.3d 1176 (2005).

In <u>Ryan</u>, the Supreme Court established a non-exclusive list of nine factors to consider when analyzing the reliability of child hearsay. <u>Ryan</u>, 103 Wn.2d at 175-76. <u>Ryan</u> instructed trial courts to consider: (1) whether the child had an apparent motive to lie; (2) the child's general character; (3) whether more than one person heard the statements; (4) the spontaneity of the statements; (5) whether trustworthiness was suggested by the timing of the statement and the relationship between the child and the witness; (6) whether the statements contained express assertions of

⁶ Prior to admitting child hearsay, it must be shown that the child was competent at the time the statements were made. <u>State v. Ryan</u>, 103 Wn.2d at 173. During the combined hearings of July 3 and July 5, 2013, held on the issues of competency and hearsay, the court ruled that M.N. was competent to testify, and later ruled that the child's hearsay was admissible under <u>Woods</u> and <u>Ryan</u>. 7/3/13RP at 179-82.

past fact; (7) whether the child's lack of knowledge could be established through cross-examination; (8) the remoteness of the possibility of the child's recollection being faulty; and (9) whether the surrounding circumstances suggested the child misrepresented the accused's involvement. <u>Ryan</u>, 103 Wn.2d at 175-76.

In this case, analysis of these factors demanded that the court not find any reliability basis to avoid the standard hearsay bar. When answered, these questions of character, motive, trustworthiness, timing, and other circumstances showed a dramatic *lack of* reliability under <u>Ryan</u>, as defense counsel argued. 7/5/13RP at 82.

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