NO. 70799-0-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OFTHE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

STATE OF WASHINGTON

Respondent

٧.

CHARLES V. LEE,

Appellant

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK K. ROE Prosecuting Attorney

KATHLEEN WEBBER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Respondent

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

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

III. ARGUMENT

- A. THE COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ADMITTED CHILD HEARSAY. ALTERNATIVELY, ERROR IN ADMITTING THAT EVIDENCE WAS HARMLESS.
- 1. The Record Supports The Trial Court's Factual Findings. Those Findings Support the Conclusion That On Balance M.N.'s Statements Were Reliable.

Prior to trial the court held a hearing pursuant to RCW 9A.44.120 to determine whether to admit three statements M.N. made regarding sexual contact by the defendant on her. The court identified those statements as (1) a statement to child interview specialist Amanda Harpell-Franz on November 16, 2010 that the defendant had touched M.N. inappropriately, (2) a statement on November 11, 2010 to Sandy Grant that the defendant had touched M.N. inappropriately, and (3) a statement on November 10 or 11, 2010 to R.N. describing an incident of oral sex. 7/5/13 RP 106-108. At the conclusion of the hearing the court weighed the evidence pursuant to State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d 165, 691 P.2d 197 (1984). The court found, on balance, the evidence supported finding the statements were reliable, and accordingly ruled those statements were admissible. 7/5/13 RP 111-119. The defendant contends the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted this evidence.

A statement made by a child under 10 that describes any act or attempted act of sexual contact performed with or on the child by another is admissible in criminal proceedings if the court finds the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia of reliability and the child testifies. RCW 9A.44.120(1), (2)(a).

Nine factors are relevant when determining whether the statement is reliable:

(1) whether there is an apparent motive to lie; (2) the general character of the declarant; (3) whether more than one person heard the statements; (4) whether the statements were made spontaneously; (5) the timing of the declaration and the relationship between the declarant and the witness; (6) whether the statement contains any express assertion about a past fact; (7) whether cross-examination could not show the declarant's lack of knowledge; (8) the possibility of the declarant's faulty recollection is remote; and (9) the circumstances surrounding the statement are such that there is no reason to suppose the declarant misrepresented the defendant's involvement.

Ryan, 103 Wn.2d at 175-176.

A trial court has considerable discretion when evaluating the indicia of reliability. State v. Swan, 114 Wn.2d 613, 628, 790 P.2d 610 (1990), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 1046, 111 S.Ct. 752, 112 L.Ed.2d 772 (1991). "The trial court is in the best position to make

the determination of reliability as it is the only court to see the child and the other witnesses." State v. Pham, 75 Wn. App. 626, 631, 879 P.2d 321 (1994), review denied, 126 Wn.2d 1002 (1995). Not every Ryan factor must be met. State v. Justiniano, 48 Wn. App. 572, 580, 740 P.2d 872 (1987). It is sufficient if the factors are substantially met. State v. Woods, 154 Wn.2d 613, 623, 114 P.3d 1174 (2005), Swan, 114 Wn.2d at 652.

A finding that the statements at issue fall within the exception set out in the child hearsay statute should not be reversed absent a showing of manifest abuse of discretion. Woods, 154 Wn.2d at 623-24, State v. Jackson, 42 Wn. App. 393, 396, 711 P.2d 1086 (1985). An abuse of discretion occurs when the court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or untenable reasons. In re Marriage of Littlefield, 133 Wn.2d 39, 46-47, 940 P.2d 1362 (1997). "A court's decision is manifestly unreasonable if it is outside the range of acceptable choices, given the facts and the applicable legal standard; it is based on untenable grounds if the factual findings are unsupported by the record; it is based on untenable reasons if it is based on an incorrect standard or the facts do not meet the requirements of the correct standard." Id. at 47.

The court found factors one, two, and nine did not support finding M.N's statements were reliable. The court relied on evidence from R.N. that M.N. did not always have a good relationship with the defendant, a relationship R.N. described as "love-hate." 7/5/13 RP 16-17. R.N. testified that M.N. would make up stories about someone if M.N. did not like that person. 7/5/13 RP 10,12. There was also evidence that M.N.'s initial disclosure to R.N. was in the context of M.N. possibly getting into trouble with R.N.; M.N. had been acting up and things had been disappearing around the apartment. R.N. asked M.N. point blank whether the defendant had done something to M.N. 7/5/13 RP 61. The court found these circumstances suggested M.N. had a motive to divert attention away from her activities. Both R.N. and Sandy Grant testified that M.N. was sometimes truthful and sometimes not truthful, depending on the circumstances. 7/3/13 RP 200-202; 7/5/13 RP 10, 12. Thus the record supported the court's conclusions as to those factors that favored finding M.N.'s 2010 statements were not reliable.

However there was also evidence in the record that supports the court findings that four other factors favored finding the statements were reliable. M.N.'s statements were heard by three

different people. As the trial court reasoned, M.N.'s use of the term "inappropriate" when discussing the defendant's sexual contact with her was made to two different people. Although the term was not precise, it came after of a more detailed statement to R.N. describing an act of oral sex and molestation. M.N. also told Ms. Grant that the defendant had molested her. That occurred after M.N.'s disclosure to her mother. 7/3/13 RP 193-194, 196-197; 7/5/13 RP 14-15; 2 CP 234, Ex. 3, page 6-7.

The defendant concedes that when a child makes the same statement to more than one person on different occasions this factor supports finding the statements were reliable. State v. Lopez, 95 Wn. App. 842, 853, 980 P.2d 224 (1999). The defendant argues however this factor should be discounted because M.N. had made other claims of sexual abuse which she retracted or later denied making. BOA at 17-18. He presents no authority for the position that this particular factor is affected by other claims of sexual contact with other persons on other occasions. The evidence showed that M.N. consistently reported the defendant had sexual contact with her in November 2010 and that she had not retracted that statement. The court did not abuse its discretion when it concluded this factor had been satisfied.

The record also supports the court's conclusion that M.N.'s statements were spontaneous. Statements are spontaneous for purposes of child hearsay analysis if they are made in response to non-leading, non-suggestive questions. State v. Young, 62 Wn. App. 895, 901, 802 P.2d 829 (1991). Questions asked by the child interview specialist were not leading or suggestive. 2 CP 234, Ex. 3. Ms. Grant did not know who the defendant was at the time M.N. made statements to her. She therefore did not suggest to M.N. that the defendant had molested her. 7/3/13 RP 195. The second time M.N. discussed the defendant with her Ms. Grant still did not know what exactly happened. M.N.'s statements were made in the context of a discussion about school. 7/3/13 RP 196-197. These circumstances support the court's conclusion that the statements to Ms. Grant were spontaneous for child hearsay analysis.

Although R.N. asked M.N. specifically if the defendant did something to her, R.N. did not suggest that the "something" involved sexual contact. The court put great weight on evidence that R.N. did not suspect any sexual impropriety between the defendant and M.N. at the time M.N. made those statements. R.N. was shocked when she first heard M.N.'s allegations. She testified that she did not tell M.N. what to say regarding the allegation.

7/5/13 RP 14, 19-20, 115. Since R.N. had no prior suspicion that the defendant sexually abused M.N. it is highly unlikely that R.N. would suggest to M.N. that he had done so. Thus this factor supported the court's conclusion that the statement was reliable.

The defendant argues this factor does not support reliability for two reasons. First he argues the circumstances surrounding the statement suggest they were not spontaneous. This is the ninth factor, which is a completely separate inquiry from the question of whether the statements were spontaneous. Second he argues Ms. Grant said M.N.'s statements were not spontaneous. Ms. Grant's answer reflected the common understanding of the word spontaneous, and not the meaning courts have given that term in the context of a child hearsay analysis.

The fifth factor also supported the conclusion that the statement was reliable. M.N. testified that the defendant raped her when she was eight, nine, and ten years old. M.N. was born December 22, 2000. 7/3/13 RP 48. She was therefore nine when she made the statements. The defense conceded that if the court found R.N. credible then M.N. was reporting an incident that happened one and one-half days earlier. 7/5/13 RP 87. Credibility determinations are not reviewed on appeal. State v. Camarillo, 115

Wn.2d 60, 71, 794 P.2d 850 (1990). The court clearly found R.N. credible on this point, and therefore was justified in finding the possibility that M.N.'s memory was faulty was remote.

The record also supports the court's conclusion that the eighth factor supported finding the statements were reliable. The child interview specialist had no relationship with M.N. and presented as a neutral witness. M.N. did have a close relationship with her mother and Ms. Grant. But as the court noted neither was predisposed to believing the defendant has sexually abused M.N. Notably even after M.N. reported what the defendant had done R.N. told Ms. Grant that she was taking M.N. to the hospital "to see if it's true." 7/3/13 RP 191. R.N. testified she only really believed M.N.'s statements about the November 2010 incident because she later walked in on the defendant molesting M.N. 7/5/13 RP 44. M.N. was aware that she had made other allegations in the past that had not been believed. That was significant enough for M.N. to mention to Ms. Grant when she was telling Ms. Grant about the defendant touching her. 7/3/13 RP 197. These factors suggest that M.N.'s relationship with her mother and Ms. Grant favored finding that they were reliable.

The defendant argues the timing of the statements and the relationship of the child to the witness did not favor finding reliability. Again he relies on facts that relate to other factors, not this specific factor. This factor is not supported when the witness is predisposed to believe the child has been sexually abused, and where a parent-child relationship may make the witness's objectivity difficult. In re Dependency of S.S., 61 Wn. App. 488, 498, 814 P.2d 204, review denied, 117 Wn.2d 1011 (1991). As the court noted, neither R.N. nor Ms. Grant were predisposed to believe M.N.

The court found the remaining two factors neutral. On balance there was evidence in the record that supported the court's factual findings. It reasonably applied those facts to the Ryan factors. It did not abuse its discretion when it concluded that, on balance, those factors favored a finding that M.N.'s statements regarding the November 2010 incident to those three witnesses was reliable.

2. If The Trial Court Erred In Admitting Child Hearsay Evidence It Was Harmless.

If the court concludes that the trial court abused its discretion when it admitted the child hearsay statements, then it was

harmless. Because M.N. testified at trial, any error did not affect the defendant's constitutional rights to confrontation. State v. Price, 158 Wn.2d 630, 146 P.3d 1183 (2006). An error that is not of constitutional magnitude is harmless if, within reasonable probabilities the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected had the error not occurred. State v. Bourgeois, 133 Wn.2d 389, 403, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997).

Here the statements related to count II, an incident alleged to have occurred on November 9, 2010. 1 CP 88. The defendant was acquitted of that charge. 1 CP 58. Admission of those statements as it related to that count, or the other two counts where the defendant was acquitted, could not have prejudiced the defendant.

The defendant argues that he was prejudiced because without those statements the jury would have also acquitted him on count I. The jury's verdicts as to counts II-IV indicate that the jury did not find M.N.'s testimony that the defendant sexually assaulted her was credible absent some corroboration. Count I was the only charge for which there was some corroborating evidence, i.e. R.N.'s observations of a portion of the assault and some physical evidence that M.N. was injured. Thus, M.N.'s statements on their

own, made eight months before the assault which was the basis for count I, had no impact on the jury's verdict as to count I.

The defendant seems to argue that it was the nature of the witnesses who testified to those statements that shore up the otherwise incredible testimony from M.N. resulting in his conviction on count I. He particularly points to Ms. Harpell-Franz's testimony. Ms. Harpell-Franz testified to the foundation for Exhibit 8, the DVD of her November 16, 2010 interview with M.N. In that interview M.N. said relatively little about any sexual contact with the defendant. Ms. Harpell-Franz did not testify about statements M.N. made regarding the July 2011 rape. However she did testify that she had interviewed M.N. in 2008 regarding Donnie Knowlton. Despite agreeing to tell the truth in that interview, just as she had in the 2010 interview, M.K. admitted at trial that had lied about Knowlton sexually abusing her. 7/10/13 RP 149-150; 7/12/13 RP 27-28. Whatever aura of credibility Ms. Harpell-Franz had, her testimony actually benefitted the defendant.

In addition, the evidence was cumulative of other evidence the defendant does not challenge. Nurse Skomski testified to the history M.N. gave when she was examined on November 11, 2010. 7/15/13 RP 35,40-42. That evidence was admitted pursuant to ER

803(4), statements made for purposes of medical diagnosis or treatment. 7/10/13 RP 53-58. When evidence that has been improperly admitted is cumulative of evidence that has been properly admitted, any error is harmless. State v. Flores, 164 Wn.2d 1, 19, 186 P.3d 1039 (2008), State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 818-819, 265 P.3d 853 (2011).

B. EVIDENCE REGARDING ANY SCHOOL POLICY RELATING TO M.N. WAS PROPELRY EXCLUDED.

The defendant called Shelley Shanks-Petillo as a witness to testify regarding M.N.'s reputation for honesty. Ms. Shanks-Petillo was the principal of Penny Creek Elementary when M.N. attended that school as a fourth-grader. Ms. Petillo also testified to M.N.'s conduct during two interviews Ms. Petillo had with her wherein M.N. reported she had been abused. 7/15/13 RP 152-161. The defense sought to also elicit testimony that Ms. Petillo had instituted a policy that staff were not allowed to be alone with M.N. 7/15/13 RP 163. The court sustained the State's objection to that evidence on the basis that it was an improper comment on M.N.'s veracity. 7/15/13 RP 162-163.

The defendant argues the trial court abused its discretion when it disallowed this testimony because the evidence was

relevant. BOA at 24. A decision to exclude evidence is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 856, 83 P.3d 970 (2004).

Even if the evidence met the standard for relevance set out in ER 401, it may nonetheless be inadmissible if excluded by some other court rule. ER 402. The proffered evidence amounted to Ms. Petillo's opinion that M.N. made a habit of falsely accusing people of sexually abusing her. A witness may not offer an opinion regarding the credibility of another witness. State v. Carlson, 80 Wn. App. 116, 123, 906 P.2d 999 (1995). The trial court did not abuse its discretion by excluding evidence of Ms. Petillo's policy.

Alternatively, even if the court should have admitted the testimony, it was harmless. The point of that evidence was to cast doubt on M.N.'s credibility. Substantial evidence was introduced that M.N. had made false allegations of sexual abuse in the past. Ms. Petillo's personal opinion added nothing to that evidence. The court's decision to exclude that evidence had no bearing on the outcome of the case.

C. THE REASONABLE DOUBT INSTRUCTION WAS A CORRECT STATEMENT OF THE LAW.

The court gave the standard jury instruction defining reasonable doubt. 1 CP 67; WPIC 4.01. The defense objected to the portion of the instruction that read "if, from such consideration, you have an abiding belief in the truth of the charge you are satisfied beyond a reasonable doubt. 7/16/13 RP 180; 7/17/RP 27, 29.

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